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A. C. AND PRIVY COUNCIL. 705 

[HOUSE OF LORDS.] 

LENNAR•D'S CARRYING COMPANY, LIMITED APPELLANTS
AND 

ASIATIC PETROLEUM COMPANY, LIMITED RESPONDENTS. 

Ship—Loss of Cargo by Fire—Fire caused by Unseawarthiness—" Actual 
fault or privity" of Owners—Merchant Shipping Act, 1894 (57 & 58 Vict. 
c. 60), 8. 502. 

By s. 502 of the Merchant Shipping Act, 1894, the owner of a British 
sea-going ship shall not be liable to make good to any extent whatever 
"any loss or damage happening without his actual fault or privity" 
where any goods or merchandise taken in or put on board his ship are 
lost or damaged by reason of fire on board the ship. 

A cargo of benzine on board ship was lost by a fire caused by the 
unseaworthiness of the ship in respect of the defective condition of her 
boilers. The shipowners were a limited company and the managing 
owners were another limited company. The managing director of the 
latter company was the registered managing owner and took the active 
part in the management of the ship on behalf of the owners. He knew 
or had the means of knowing of the defective condition of the boilers, 
but he gave • no special instructions to the captain or the chief engineer 
regarding their supervision and took no stops to prevent the ship 
putting to sea with her boilers in an unseaworthy condition :—

Held, that the owners had failed to discharge the onus which lay 
upon them of proving that the loss happened without their actual fault 
or privity. 

Decision of the Court of Appeal [1914] 1 K. B. 419 affirmed. 

APPEAL from an order of the Court of Appeal affirming a 
judgment of Bray J. (1) 

The appellants were the owners of the steamship Edward 
Dawson. By a charterparty dated February 23, 1911, the 
ship was let on time charter to. the Anglo-Saxon Petroleum 
Company for nine, twelve, or fifteen months at the option of 
the charterers. Under this charterparty she loaded a cargo of 
2011 tons of benzine at Novorossisk in Russia for carriage to 
Rotterdam. The respondents were purchasers of this cargo and 

16 Present : VISCOUNT HALDANE L.C., LORD DUNEDIN, LORD ATKINSON, 
LORD PARKER OF WADDINGTON, and LORD PAEmooE. 

H. L. (E)* 

1915 

',larch, 8. 

(1) [1914] 1 K. B. 419. 
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indorsees of the bills of lading. On October 1, 1911, whilst in 
the course of her voyage from Novorossisk to Rotterdam the 
ship and her cargo were destroyed by fire. The respondents 
brought an action against the appellants for damages for loss of 
the cargo. 

By their points of claim the respondents alleged the failure to 

deliver the cargo. Alternatively they alleged that the ship was 
unseaworthy at Novorossisk by reason of the defective con-

dition of her boilers and that owing to this unseaworthiness the 

ship with her cargo was driven ashore and lost. 
The appellants by their points of defence admitted the failure 

to deliver, but relied on s. 502 of the Merchant Shipping Act, 
1894 (1), as relieving them from liability, and they denied the 
allegation of unseaworthiness. The respondents by their points 

of reply denied that the cargo was lost by fire within the 
meaning of s. 502 and alleged that it was lost by perils of 

the sea occasioned by the unseaworthiness. Alternatively they 
alleged that if the cargo was lost by fire the fire was occasioned 
by the unseaworthiness. In the further alternative they alleged 
that by the terms of the contract of carriage the appellants 
had precluded themselves from relying on the protection of the 
section ; but in the circumstances it became unnecessary for 

the Court to determine this question. 
The Edward Dawson was a steel screw oil tank steamer. She 

had two boilers and each boiler had three furnaces. Her average 
speed was about seven knots. She was built in 1890 for a 

French firm and was classed in the first division of the Bureau 
Veritas. She was supplied with new boilers in 1896. In 1897 
she was purchased by the appellants, who then expended 65001. 
upon her. The managers of the appellant company were 
another company, John M. Lennard & Sons, Limited, and the 
managing director of that company was John M. Lennard, who 

(1) Merchant Shipping Act, 1894, 
s. 502 : "The owner of a British 
sea-going ship, or any share therein, 
shall not be liable to make good to 
any extent whatever any loss or 
damage happening without his 
actual fault or privity in the 

following cases; namely,—
" (i.) Where any goods, merchan-

dise, or other things what-
soever taken in or put on 
board his ship are lost or 
damaged by reason of fire 
on board the ship ; . . . 
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was the registered managing owner of the ship. Lennard did 
not give evidence at the trial. 

In February, 1911, the ship was repaired at Liverpool to the 
requirements of the Bureau Veritas surveyor, Mr. Viehoff ; and 
her class was extended for twelve months to March 31, 1912, but 
subject to the pressure of her boilers being reduced from 160 lbs. 
to 13.0 lbs. She then proceeded under the time charter to 
various ports in the Mediterranean and returned to Thames 
Haven in June, 1911. There had been trouble with her boilers 
during this voyage. Before the arrival of the ship at Thames 
Haven the charterers sent a letter to the appellants complaining 
that there was something greatly wrong with her engines and 
boilers and urging that they should be put.in thorough working 
order, and in July, 1911, the appellants ordered new boilers and 
stipulated that they should be ready by the middle of November. 
On her arrival at Thames Haven the boilers were examined by a 
foreman boilermaker named Clarke, representing the general 
marine superintendent of the ship, Mr. Smaling. Clarke reported 
that the repairs necessary were of a miscellaneous but not very 
serious character. No instructions were given by Lennard or 
the appellants either to Smaling or to Clarke, nor was the 
charterers' complaint communicated to them. The repairs were 
done by Fletcher &. Sons, Limited, a responsible firm, under the 
directions of Clarke and were limited to repairing existing leaks. 
The evidence showed that the normal life of a boiler if well cared 
for was from sixteen to eighteen years and the normal life of a set 
of tubes about ten years. The ship then proceeded to New York, 
and from New York to Barcelona and from Barcelona to Novo-
rossisk, and during all this time the trouble with the boilers con-
tinued and increased. The master made no communications on 
this matter either to the appellants or to Lennard. On her arrival 
at Novorossisk there was a very large accumulation of salt in the 
boilers owing to leakage, and the crew spent two days cutting out 
the salt. After loading her cargo of benzine the ship left Novo-
rossisk for Rotterdam, and before she reached the English 
Channel the two centre furnaces were completely salted up so that 
they had become useless, and two tubes in the boilers had burst. 
Shortly after passing Dover on September 30, 1911, the ship 
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encountered a strong north-westerly gale with a heavy sea. At 
3.30 P.M. the captain brought her head to the wind as he con-
sidered it dangerous to approach the Dutch coast. At 11 P.M. a 
tube in the port boiler burst. The fires of that boiler had to be 
drawn to allow the tube to be plugged, and the ship was rapidly 
driven to leeward. About 2 A.M. the fires were relighted, and 
about 3 A.M. the full pressure of steam which the two boile;s and 
four furnaces could raise was obtained, but the ship still con-
tinued to be driven to leeward owing to the want of sufficient 
steam power to face the gale. At 5.30 A.M. she grounded on the 
Botkill Bank, and after bumping on the bank several times she 
got off, but about 7.40 A.M. she finally grounded in the Scheldt 
near Flushing. The stranding of the ship injured the tanks to 
such an extent that some of the benzine escaped, and the vapour 
of the escaping benzine coming into contact with the combustion 
chambers of the boilers caused an explosion which resulted in 
the loss of the ship and cargo. 

Bray J. found that the vessel on leaving Novorossisk was 
unseaworthy by reason of the condition of her boilers, that the 
fire and consequent loss of the cargo were caused by the unsea-
worthiness, and that the loss did not happen without the_ actual 
fault or privity of the owners. He accordingly gave judgment for 
the respondents for an amount to be ascertained, which amount 
was subsequently ascertained at 13,5001. In the Court of Appeal 
the appellants did not contest the finding of Bray J. as to unsea-

worthiness, but contended that neither the unseaworthiness nor 

the stranding caused the fire, and that the fire and loss of 
the cargo occurred without the actual fault or privity of the 
appellants. 

The Court of Appeal by a majority (Buckley and Hamilton L.JJ., 

Vaughan Williams L.J. dissenting) affirmed the decision of the 
learned judge. 

• 1915. Feb. 26 ; March 1, 8. Adair Roche,.K.C., and Raeburn 
(with them I. H. Stranger, for J. A. H. Wood, serving with His 
Majesty's Forces), for the appellants. The main defence to the 
action is s. 502 of the Merchant Shipping Act, .1894. Unsea, 
worthiness in respect of • the boilers. is admitted, but there is 
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nothing to connect the loss of the cargo with that unseaworthi-

ness. The loss occurred without the actual fault or privity of 
the appellants. The manager Lennard was not aware of the 
unseaworthy condition of the boilers, nor had he the means of 
knowledge. He was entitled to rely on the certificate of the 
Bureau Veritas and upon the subsequent repairs, which were not 
found by Bray J. to be insufficient. But assuming that Leonard 
was to blame, the manager's fault or privity is not the fault or 
privity of the owner. It must be actual or personal fault or 
privity: Virginia Carolina Chemical Co. v. Norfolk and North 
American Steam Shipping Co. (1); Ingram d Royle v. Services, 
Maritimes du Treport (2); The Fanny (3); The Warkworth. (4) 

[LORD ATKINSON referred to Witson, v. Dickson. (5)] 

In the case of a company the persons responsible would be the 
board of directors. There is a distinction between the board, who 
have the general management and control of the company, and 

a person appointed by the board or by the company at general 
meeting to do a particular class of acts : Smitton v. Orient Steam 
Ndvigation Co. (6) Lennard had the supreme control of the 
technical management of the ship, but he was nothing more than 

an agent of the appellant company. He was not the alter ego of 

the company. He did not represent the company in the sense of 
making his fault the fault of the company. The case of a com-
pany is analogous to the old case of a sixty-fourth owned ship. 
Sleeping ownership is recognized by law and is in the interest of 
public policy, and s. 502, which is a reproduction of similar pro-
visions in older Acts, expressly exempts a sleeping owner from 
responsibility. The object of the section is to restrict the 
doctrine of respondeat superior within certain defined limits. 

Maurice Hill, K.C., and F. D. MacKinnon, K.C., for the 
respondents, were not called on. 

VISCOUNT HALDANE L.C. My Lords, in this case the appellants 
have, at all events, the satisfaction of knowing that their case 
has been excellently argued by both the learned counsel who have 
appeared for them at your Lordships' Bar. 

(1) [1912] 1 K. B. 229. (4) (1883) 9 P. D. 20. 

(2) [1913] 1 K. B. 538, at p. 544. (5) (1818) 2 B. & Ald. 2. 

(3) (1912) 28 Times L. R. 217. (6) (1907) 12 Cora. Cas. 270. 
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The case, which we have now heard fully and as to which we 
do not think it necessary to trouble the respondents' counsel, is 
shortly this. The Edward Dawson was a tank steamer designed 
for the carriage of oil in bulk. She was chartered by her 
owners, the appellants, on a time charter to a company known 
as the Anglo-Saxon Petroleum Company, and in the course of 
her employment she proceeded to Novorossisk in the Black Sea. 
There she loaded in bulk 2011 tons of benzine, and the bills of 
lading, six in number, were indorsed by the Anglo-Saxon Petro-
leum Company to the Asiatic Petroleum Company, who are the 
respondents in this case. My Lords, the benzine has been lost, 
and the respondents have brought an action against the appel-
lants to recover damages for the loss of their cargo. 

Now the story of the case is in outline this: The Edward 
Dawson was built in 1890, as I have said, for the carriage of oil 
in bulk, and in 1907 she was bought by the appellants, who spent 
a good deal of money upon her, and proceeded to use her for 
certain voyages. In January, 1911, after she had been for a 
good while at sea, she was overhauled at Birkenhead, and the 
Bureau Veritas, a well-known agency which issues certificates 
and keeps a list for the purpose of showing the condition of 
ships, gave a certificate through Mr. Viehoff, who was their agent 
at Birkenhead, to the effect that she would have a satisfactory 
character for another twelve months, but only on condition that 
her boiler pressure was reduced from 160 to 130 lbs. My Lords, 
that obviously made a great deal of difference to the energy 
developing limits of capacity of the ship. Subsequently to that 
she proceeded on what has been described in the course of the 
argument as a round voyage. She went to Thames Haven, and 
at Thames Haven certain repairs were done under the super-
intendence of a Mr. Clarke to her boilers; she proceeded to New 
York, and from New York to Barcelona, and after various inter-
mediate voyages she came to Novorossisk in the Black Sea, where 
she loaded the cargo of benzine of which I have spoken. She 
left Novorossisk, and the unsatisfactory condition of her boilers 
soon became manifest. These boilers leaked ; they leaked salt 
water into the central furnaces, the furnaces became silted up 

with salt, so that their capacity was diminished, and the result 
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was that when the ship on her way back passed the Straits of H. L. (E.) 

Dover and came into the North Sea she was not in a condition 1915 

to develop such power as was desirable in the event of her T ..ENNARD s 
encountering heavy head weather. My Lords, she found herself YIN P 

CAR R G 
COMANY, 

on October 1 off the Dutch coast near the mouth of the Scheldt. UNITED
z. 

There was a gale blowing, and she hove to and set her head ASIATIC 

against that gale to prevent herself from being driven on to PETROLEUM 
COMPANY, 

the lee shore, but she was driven. She first of all grounded on LIMITED. 

the Botkill Bank, and then she grounded again in the mouth of viscoullt 
Haldane L.C. 

the Scheldt. Her port of destination was Rotterdam, but she 
was by this time a good way away from Rotterdam at the mouth 

of another river which lies south of the Maas, on which Rotterdam 
is situated, namely, the Scheldt, and in the Scheldt, as I have 

observed, she took the ground again. She does not appear to 
have been under adequate control. She had, among other things, 
burst a tube, which was not unlikely, having regard to wear and 

tear in excess of the length of life of tubes, which was given in 
the evidence as only ten years, and to the general condition of 

her boilers. She burst a tube, she took the ground, she was 

unable to get off the ground, she bumped, and as the result of 
humping the benzine got loose from the tanks, the deck bulged, 
the tanks were probably cracked, anyhow the benzine began 

to get into the furnaces, and the result was a conflagration. It 

was suggested that if the flame had been extinguished by the 
injection of water, this might have been prevented, but I do not 
think the evidence upon that point at all satisfactorily estab-
lished that that could have been secured, or, at any rate, that the 
operation could have been properly carried out. 

My Lords, in that state of things the loss of the cargo took 
place, and the case came before Bray J., who tried it, and Bray J. 
found a number of facts. He found these facts after hearing the 

evidence on both sides, and I think that his findings of fact were 
justified. They were these: The first was that the ship when 

she left Novorossisk was unseaworthy by reason of defects in her 
boilers. The second finding of fact was that the stranding on the 
Botkill Bank, just off the mouth of the Scheldt, was caused by 
the want of steam, which in its turn was caused by the unsea-
worthy condition of the boilers ; and he found the same causes as 

3 3 A 2 



712 HOUSE OF LORDS [1915] 

H. L. (E.) 

1915 

LENNARD'S 
CARRYING 
COMPANY, 
LIMITED 

V. 
ASIATIC 

PETROLEUM 
COMPANY, 
LIMITED. 

Viscount 
Haldane L.C. 

regards the subsequent stranding in the Scheldt itself. Then in 
the third place he found that the loss was not caused by any 
negligence or want of precautions on the part of the engineers, 
because he does not find it proved that anything they could have 
done could have altered the consequences. He found that the 
loss of the cargo was caused by the unseaworthiness of the ship 
due to the condition of the boilers. Then there are other 
findings which are findings of mixed fact and law. One of these 
is that the duty of supervision remained with the managing 
owners, and that the fault of the managing owners was a 
fault that affected the company itself. 

My Lords, that last question gives rise to the real question of 

law which occurs in this case. Taking the facts to be as the 
learned judge has found them, what is the consequence as regards 

the liability of the appellants? The appellants are a limited 
company and the ship was managed by another limited company, 

Messrs. John M. Lennard & Sons, and Mr. J. M. Lennard, who 

seems to be the active director in J. M. Lennard & Sons, was also 
a director of the appellant company,Lennard's Carrying Company, 
Limited. My Lords, in that state of things what is the question 

of law which arises 2 I think that it is impossible in the face of 

the findings of the learned judge, and of the evidence, to contend 
successfully that Mr. J. M. Lennard has shown that he did not 
know or can excuse himself for not having known of the defects 
which manifested themselves in the condition of the ship, 
amounting to unseaworthiness. Mr. Lennard is the person who 

is registered in the ship's register and is designated as the 

person to whom the management of the vessel was entrusted. 

He appears to have been the active spirit in the joint stock 

company which managed this ship for the appellants ; and under 

the circumstances the question is whether the company can 

invoke the protection of s. 502 of the Merchant Shipping Act to 

relieve it from the liability which the respondents seek to impose 

on it. That section is in these words : " The owner of a British 

sea-going ship, or any share therein, shall not be liable to make 

good to any extent whatever any loss or damage happening 

without his actual fault or privity in the following cases ; namely, 

—(i.) Where any goods, merchandise, or other things whatsoever 
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taken in or put on board his ship are lost or damaged by reason 

of fire on board the ship." 
Now, my Lords, did what happened take place without the 

actual fault or privity of the owners of the ship who were the 

appellants? My Lords, a corporation is an abstraction. It has 
no mind of its own any more than it has a body of its own ; its 
active and directing will must consequently be sought in the 
person of somebody who for some purposes may be called an 
agent, but who is really the directing mind and will of the 
corporation, the very ego and centre of the personality of the 
corporation. That person may be under the direction of 

the shareholders in general meeting ; that person may be the 
board of directors itself, or it may be, and in some companies it 
is so, that that person has an authority co-ordinate with the 
board of directors given to him under the articles of association, 
and is appointed by the general meeting of the company, and 
can only be removed by the general meeting of the company. 
My Lords, whatever is not known about Mr. Lennard's position, 
this is known for certain, Mr. Lennard took the active part in 
the management of this ship on behalf of the owners, and Mr. 
Lennard, as I have said, was registered as the person designated 
for this purpose in the ship's register. Mr. Lennard therefore 
was the natural person to come on behalf of the owners and give 
full evidence not only about the events of which I have spoken, 
and which related to the seaworthiness of the ship, but about 
his own position and as to whether or not he was the life and 
soul of the company. For if Mr. Lennard was the directing 
mind of the company, then his action must, unless a corporation 
is not to be liable at all, have been an action which was the 
action of the company itself within the meaning of s. 502. It 
has not been contended at the Bar, and it could not have been 
successfully contended, that s. 502 is so worded as to exempt a 
corporation altogether which happens to be the owner of a ship, 
merely because it happens to be a corporation. It must be upon 
the true construction of that section in such a case as the present 

one that the fault or privity is the fault or privity of somebody 
who is not merely a servant or agent for whom the company is 
liable upon the footing respondeat superior, but somebody 
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for whom the company is liable because his action is the very 

action of the company itself. It is not enough that the fault 

should be the fault of a servant in order to exonerate the owner, 

the fault must also be one which is not the fault of the owner, or 

a fault to which the owner is privy; and I take the view that 

when anybody sets up that section to excuse himself from the 

normal consequences of the maxim respondeat superior the 

burden lies upon him to do so. 
Well, my Lords, in that state of the law it is obvious to me 

that Mr. Lennard ought to have gone into the box and relieved 

the company of the presumption which arises against it that his 

action was the company's action. But Mr. Lennard did not go 

into the box to rebut the presumption of liability and we have 
no satisfactory evidence as to what the constitution of the 

company was or as to what Mr. Lennard's position was. The 
memorandum and articles of association were not put in. The 

only evidence was that of the secretary, Mr. Simpson, who told 

the Court that he was secretary not only to the company but 

also to the managing company, and the inference to be drawn is 

that the officials of the two companies were very much the same 

and transacted very much the same business. Under the cir-

cumstances I think that the company and Mr. Lennard have 
not discharged the burden of proof which was upon them, 
and that it must be taken that the unseaworthiness, which 
I hold to have been established. as existing at the commence-
ment of the voyage from Novorossisk, was an unseaworthiness 
which did not exist without the actual fault or privity of 
the owning company. My Lords, if that is so, then the 
judgment of the majority of the Court of Appeal and of 
Bray J. was right. 

My Lords, there is another point which I have not entered 
upon, because it was not touched upon in the Court below, and 
that is the question as to whether the terms of the charterparty 
are such as to exclude the operation of s. 502 altogether. That 
question remains intact. It is not necessary to deal with it in 
this case and I therefore pass it by. 

My Lords, for the reasons which I have given, I move that this 
appeal be dismissed, and dismissed with costs, 
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LORD DUNEDIN. My Lords, I concur, and I have but little to 
add to what the noble and learned Lord on the woolsack has 
said. It appears clearly from the facts, and indeed eventually was 
admitted by the appellants' counsel, that the loss which had its 
final outcome in the fire was really due to a set of defects in the 
steam power in the boilers which constituted unseaworthiness. In 
the Court below at the trial the principal controversy seems to have 
turned upon whether the fault in allowing the vessel to be unsea-
worthy was a fault committed by the captain at Novorossisk or was 
the fault of J. M. Lennard, the registered manager of the ship. I 

agree with what my noble and learned friend has said that the true 

view of the facts is that the fault was the fault of Lennard. But 
before your Lordships' House the chief argument has been, 
admitting that it was the fault of J. M. Lennard, whether that 
was actual fault or privity in the sense of s. 502 of the Merchant 
Shipping Act. The real question therefore turns upon what is to 
be the application of the words there used to a metaphysical 

. conception like an incorporated company who cannot act directly 
themselves. 

My Lords, I do not know that a case will ever arise in which 

that will need to be treated as a purely abstract proposition. I 

do not think it arises in this case, and I certainly incline to the 
opinion that it will be found always to depend upon the particular 

facts of the case. If I was bound to decide affirmatively in this 
case, I should be inclined to think that there was enough known 

about Lennard to show that, to use the appellants' learned 

counsel's own phrase, he was the alter ego of the company. He 
was a director of the company. I can quite conceive that a 
company may by entrusting its business to one director be as 
truly represented by that one director, as in ordinary cases it is 
represented by the whole board. I am quite sure that you cannot 
at least put as a general proposition in law that it is true that 
nothing will ever be the actual fault or privity of an incorporated 
company unless it is the actual fault of the whole board of 
directors. But, my Lords, I think the true criterion of the case is 
that which was found and applied by Hamilton L.J., that the parties 
who plead this 502nd section must bring themselves within 
its terms; and therefore the question is, have the company 
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freed themselves by showing that this arose without their 

actual fault or privity I think they have not. Lennard may 
have been deputed by the company to do all these things, or 
again there might have been liability upon the ground that 
Lennard had told the whole body of directors and that they knew 
and sent him the money, and so on. Anyway they have not 
discharged the onus which was upon them, and I therefore 
concur in the motion which has been made by my noble and 
learned friend on the woolsack. 

LORD ATKINSON. My Lords, I concur. 

LORD PARKER OF WADDINGTON. My Lords, I concur. 

LORD PARMOOR. My Lords, I Concur. 

Order of the Court of Appeal affirmed and appeal 
dismissed with costs. 

Lords' Journals, March 8, 1915. 

Solicitors for appellants : Downing, Handcock, Middleton & 
Lewis, for Bolam, Middleton & Co., Sunderland. 

Solicitors for respondents: Parker, Garrett & Co. 
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LALONDE J. 

1 Erich Kappler, the plaintiff, is 78 years of age and his wife, Susanne Kappler, also a plaintiff, 
is 80 years of age. They are the parents of Robert Kappler who lived in a common-law 
relationship with the defendant, Marie France Beaudoin, from 1994 to 1998. 

2 Robert Kappler, the plaintiffs' son, entered into a relationship with the defendant in 1994, 
shortly after being laid off from his job in North Bay, Ontario. Robert Kappler decided to finish his 
secondary education and obtain a university degree over a six-year period of time. Since Robert 
Kappler could not obtain a loan to finance his education, the plaintiffs decided to advance him 
$400 per month. After the defendant became pregnant with her first child, both she and Robert 
Kappler moved in with the plaintiffs and occupied the basement of the plaintiffs' home. The 
defendant's first child, Ryan, was born in the spring of 1995. After the birth of Ryan, the plaintiffs 
decided to move into the basement of their home and give the defendant and their son, Robert 
Kappler, occupation of the first floor. This situation endured until such time as the defendant's 
second child, Jenna, was born. The plaintiffs then bought and moved into another home. The 
defendant and her common-law husband, Robert Kappler, had the plaintiffs' house to 
themselves and were not required to pay any rent. The defendant paid municipal taxes, 
insurance, and public utilities. 
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3 Susanne Kappler explained in Court that their son, Robert Kappler, was a student and not 
earning a salary. The defendant, Marie France Beaudoin, was employed as a clerk at the 
Ottawa General Hospital, (as it was then known), earning $30,000 per year. Susanne Kappler 
and her husband felt they had to help in every way they could. They contributed $100 per month 
for each child, over and above the $400 per month they were giving their son, Robert Kappler. 
The plaintiffs also babysat the children as often as they could. 

4 Erich Kappler stated that the defendant had a car on which she was paying a loan with 
interest at 10%. He offered to pay off the car loan to the finance company and asked the 
defendant to pay him back whenever she could. As the loan was interest free, the defendant 
accepted. Erich Kappler opened a ledger card and an entry was made every month upon receipt 
of a payment on the loan. He testified that he was in the habit of doing that as both his son, 
Robert, and his daughter, borrowed money from him from time to time. All payments received by 
the plaintiffs were recorded on a similar ledger sheet. The defendant made her regular monthly 
payments. At one point in time, there was $3,500 left on the $8,500 loan. To make the 
defendant feel part of the family, the plaintiffs decided to forgive the last $3,500 owing on the 
debt. 

5 Erich Kappler further testified that the defendant asked him to loan her $20,000 to buy 
another car. In those days, the defendant travelled back and forth to visit her mother two to three 
times per week at Mont Ste Marie, in the province of Quebec. As the distance was considerable 
and the defendant travelled with infant children in a very old car, the plaintiffs decided to 
advance that sum of money, to the defendant. The purchase of the car was made through the 
joint efforts of Robert Kappler and the defendant. Once purchased, the vehicle, a Suzuki 
Sidekick, was placed in the defendant's name. Part of the consideration came from Robert 
Kappler's credit card, part came from the trade-in of the defendant's GEO Metro car, and the 
balance of the purchase price came from the plaintiffs' $20,000 loan. The bill of sale for the car 
was made out to Robert Kappler. This fact was explained at trial and the evidence received 
satisfies me that it does not help resolve the issues in this case. Erich Kappler stated that the 
defendant was very happy when she received the loan: "I could see it in her face". 

6 The plaintiffs advanced the defendant $20,000 on June 28, 1998 and on August 15, 1998, the 
defendant announced she was leaving the plaintiffs' son. She moved out of the plaintiffs' home 
that she had occupied with Robert Kappler, on or about September 15, 1998. 

Issues 
Is there a presumption of advancement or a presumption of resulting trust in regard to the 
$20,000 loan made by the plaintiffs to the defendant? 

Has the defendant been unjustly enriched to the detriment of the plaintiffs? 

7 The evidence of Erich Kappler was corroborated by Susanne Kappler. She was not present in 
the courtroom when her husband testified. She stated that Erich Kappler told her the defendant 
had requested a $20,000 loan to purchase another car. Susanne Kappler confirmed that no 
money would have been advanced had the defendant not promised to repay the loan. Susanne 
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Kappler then typed up a document (the promissory note) that was filed as an Exhibit at trial and 
which is reproduced as follows: 

Marie-France Beaudoin 

2221 Beaver Ave. 

Ottawa, Ont. 

K1H 7W3 

June 22, 1998 

I, Marie-France Beaudoin, received a loan of $20,000. (twenty thousand) from Mrs. 
Susanne Kappler to purchase a car. I agree to repay this loan in 60 equal payments of 
$333.00 monthly, payable on the first day of each month. The first payment is due July 1, 
1998. 

8 According to the evidence of Susanne Kappler, it was the defendant who figured out that the 
sum of $333 would be the correct amount to amortize this loan. Both plaintiffs testified that Erich 
Kappler provided $14,000 and Susanne Kappler provided $6,000 to make a total of $20,000. 
There is no dispute that the amount of money was advanced. Both plaintiffs testified that the 
defendant took the note from Susanne Kappler and did not sign it. Neither did she refuse to sign 
it. 

9 Even after the separation was announced, the plaintiffs continued to pay to the defendant and 
their son, Robert Kappler, the $100 for each of their children, they had paid each month since 
the birth of each child, until the defendant moved out of their house on September 15, 1998. 
Following the defendant's separation from their son, the plaintiffs made two more payments and 
then the payments stopped. During the month of September 1998, the plaintiffs were preparing 
to leave to spend the winter in the State of Florida, in the United States of America. Susanne 
Kappler testified that she presented the defendant with six deposit slips for the monthly payment 
on the $20,000 loan, to cover the period of time when the plaintiffs would be abroad. Susanne 
Kappler maintained that the defendant refused to sign the deposit slips. The defendant is 
alleged to have told the plaintiffs she would take out a loan in the spring, (meaning the spring of 
1999), and pay off the plaintiffs' $20,000 loan. This, of course, never did happen. Susanne 
Kappler then stated that as they received news from their son, Robert Kappler, in March 1999 
that the loan was not going to be repaid and that the defendant had borrowed money from the 
Bank of Montreal for other purposes, they decided to call in their $20,000 loan. 

10 Marie France Beaudoin applied to the Regional Municipality of Ottawa-Carleton for a 
daycare subsidy for both her children. She submitted for that application two documents also 
entered in evidence at trial. The first document reads as follows: 

Susanne KAPPLER 

222 Beaver Ave. 

Ottawa, Ont. 
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K1H 7W3 

To whom it may concern 
I confirm that Ms. Marie-France Beaudoin, 2221 Beaver Ave., Ottawa, Ont., is living in my 
house for 3 years. She pays to me monthly $460. plus long distance charges. 

signed Susanne Kappler 

Ottawa, June 5, 1998 

11 The letter confirmed to the daycare officials that the defendant had lived in the plaintiffs 
house and paid a monthly rent of $460 plus long distance charges. The plaintiff, Susanne 
Kappler, explained that the sum of money mentioned in this letter, was the equivalent of the 
money received from the defendant to cover the operating cost of 2221 Beaver Avenue. The 
plaintiff, Susanne Kappler, admitted that the wording of this letter should have indicated that the 
$460 monthly payment was made by the defendant on her behalf to third parties such as public 
utilities and local government. 

12 The second document the defendant submitted with her daycare application was the 
promissory note mentioned in paragraph 7 above that had been left unsigned at the time 
Susanne Kappler had presented it to the defendant. It is not known when the defendant signed 
the promissory note. She did not tell the plaintiffs she had signed the promissory note. She filed 
the promissory note with the Regional Municipality of Ottawa-Carleton showing an indebtedness 
to the plaintiffs thus qualifying for 100% daycare subsidy for both her children. 

13 Marie France Beaudoin, 27 years of age, also testified. She claimed that her relationship 
with the plaintiffs while living with their son, was a very close one and she described the 
relationship as "perfect". The plaintiffs paid for everything and the defendant confirmed that after 
Ryan was born, she received $100 per month for Ryan and later she also received the same 
monthly payment for Jenna. The defendant confirmed that the plaintiffs had taken over her 
$8,500 loan for her GEO Metro car, and that she made regular payments to the plaintiffs who 
forgave her the last $3,500 of indebtedness for one of her birthdays. She quoted the plaintiffs as 
saying: "we all put our hands in it for Robert". She knew nothing about the ledger sheet filed with 
the Court by the plaintiff, Erich Kappler. She also confirmed that the amount of money advanced 
by the plaintiffs, for the GEO Metro car, was a loan. The defendant testified that with the 
$20,000 advance, she purchased a Suzuki Sidekick vehicle and the title of the vehicle was 
made in her name. She said this advance was not a loan, as she made no monthly payments to 
the plaintiffs. Another reason advanced by the defendant to establish a distinction between the 
advance for the first vehicle and the advance of the second vehicle was that the plaintiffs did not 
deduct the $200 monthly they gave to the children and apply it to the so-called car loan. She 
claims she was not asked for payments and that while the loan was advanced, the plaintiffs 
continued to make payments to her for the children, without deducting the car payment. The fact 
that the Suzuki Sidekick was placed immediately in her name, according to her, made it a gift by 
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the plaintiffs. She claimed that the promissory note referred to in paragraph 7 was sent to the 
officials at the Regional Municipality of Ottawa-Carleton to help her qualify for a 100% subsidy 
for daycare. The defendant said in Court she did not have any debts and that it was Susanne 
Kappler's idea to create this debt artificially to enable her to claim the entire daycare subsidy. 
She testified that this was the only reason she signed the promissory note. Since no request for 
the payments of the loan was made by the plaintiffs between June 30, 1998 and March 31, 
1999, it means the $20,000 advance could be construed as a gift. For July 1st, August 1st, and 
September 1st, 1998, she received the $200 per month for the children from the plaintiffs 
without adjustment for the sum of $333 that the plaintiffs argued she owed on the promissory 
note. In fact she was very surprised to get a demand letter on March 5, 1999, while the plaintiffs 
were still holidaying in Florida. 

14 During cross-examination, the defendant admitted that she had conversations with her 
estranged common-law husband, Robert Kappler, during the winter months of 1999, about the 
repayment of the plaintiffs' advance of $20,000. She said that she was willing to say and do 
anything to get her subsidy from the Regional Municipality of Ottawa-Carleton. She admitted 
that she was aware that there could have been criminal sanctions for misleading officials at the 
Regional Municipality of Ottawa-Carleton on the matter of the "loan". She told counsel for the 
plaintiffs that she did not have any recollection of being presented with deposit slips by Susanne 
Kappler prior to Susanne Kappler leaving for her six months holiday in Florida. According to the 
defendant that conversation between herself and Susanne Kappler did not happen. 

15 The position taken by the plaintiffs is that the $20,000 advance was made by way of a loan 
to the defendant and that that loan should now be repaid to them to prevent any unjust 
enrichment of the defendant at their expense. 

16 The position taken by the defendant, Marie France Beaudoin, is that the advance of $20,000 
was a gift made to her and ought not now to take any different character simply because of the 
failure of the marital relationship between her and the plaintiffs' son. 

The Law 

17 The applicable law can be found in the case of Flatters v. Brown, [1999] O.J. No. 2608, 
where the Honourable Madam Justice Robertson states at paragraph 23, the following: 

Special classes of relationships, such as parent and child, attract special rules. [4] It does 
not matter that the account was jointly held. The presumption of advancement applies to 
the Boston bank account and it is taken for granted to be a gift by father to daughter. As 
Justice McCart said in Smith Estate v. Smith, [1995] O.J. No. 253 (Quicklaw) (Ont. Gen. 
Div.) and as applied in the decision of Close v. Close (1998), 33 R.F.L. (4th) 210 (Ont. 
Gen. Div.) 233: 

"Where there is a conveyance or transfer of property without consideration from a 
parent to a child, the law presumes it was intended as a gift. The presumption of 
advancement is rebuttable if the party adduces evidence of a contrary intention on a 
balance of probabilities. Furthermore, the evidence required to rebut the presumption 
is evidence of the donor's intention at the time of the transfer." 

Page 5 of 9

Kappler v. Beaudoin

the plaintiffs. She claimed that the promissory note referred to in paragraph 7 was sent to the 
officials at the Regional Municipality of Ottawa-Carleton to help her qualify for a 100% subsidy 
for daycare. The defendant said in Court she did not have any debts and that it was Susanne 
Kappler's idea to create this debt artificially to enable her to claim the entire daycare subsidy. 
She testified that this was the only reason she signed the promissory note. Since no request for 
the payments of the loan was made by the plaintiffs between June 30, 1998 and March 31, 
1999, it means the $20,000 advance could be construed as a gift. For July 1st, August 1st, and 
September 1st, 1998, she received the $200 per month for the children from the plaintiffs 
without adjustment for the sum of $333 that the plaintiffs argued she owed on the promissory 
note. In fact she was very surprised to get a demand letter on March 5, 1999, while the plaintiffs 
were still holidaying in Florida.

14  During cross-examination, the defendant admitted that she had conversations with her 
estranged common-law husband, Robert Kappler, during the winter months of 1999, about the 
repayment of the plaintiffs' advance of $20,000. She said that she was willing to say and do 
anything to get her subsidy from the Regional Municipality of Ottawa-Carleton. She admitted 
that she was aware that there could have been criminal sanctions for misleading officials at the 
Regional Municipality of Ottawa-Carleton on the matter of the "loan". She told counsel for the 
plaintiffs that she did not have any recollection of being presented with deposit slips by Susanne 
Kappler prior to Susanne Kappler leaving for her six months holiday in Florida. According to the 
defendant that conversation between herself and Susanne Kappler did not happen.

15  The position taken by the plaintiffs is that the $20,000 advance was made by way of a loan 
to the defendant and that that loan should now be repaid to them to prevent any unjust 
enrichment of the defendant at their expense.

16  The position taken by the defendant, Marie France Beaudoin, is that the advance of $20,000 
was a gift made to her and ought not now to take any different character simply because of the 
failure of the marital relationship between her and the plaintiffs' son.

The Law

17  The applicable law can be found in the case of Flatters v. Brown, [1999] O.J. No. 2608, 
where the Honourable Madam Justice Robertson states at paragraph 23, the following:

Special classes of relationships, such as parent and child, attract special rules. [4] It does 
not matter that the account was jointly held. The presumption of advancement applies to 
the Boston bank account and it is taken for granted to be a gift by father to daughter. As 
Justice McCart said in Smith Estate v. Smith, [1995] O.J. No. 253 (Quicklaw) (Ont. Gen. 
Div.) and as applied in the decision of Close v. Close (1998), 33 R.F.L. (4th) 210 (Ont. 
Gen. Div.) 233:

"Where there is a conveyance or transfer of property without consideration from a 
parent to a child, the law presumes it was intended as a gift. The presumption of 
advancement is rebuttable if the party adduces evidence of a contrary intention on a 
balance of probabilities. Furthermore, the evidence required to rebut the presumption 
is evidence of the donor's intention at the time of the transfer."

https://plus.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases-ca&id=urn:contentItem:5F8P-SD61-F8KH-X540-00000-00&context=1537339
https://plus.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases-ca&id=urn:contentItem:5F8P-SCW1-F22N-X03X-00000-00&context=1537339
https://plus.lexis.com/api/document?collection=cases-ca&id=urn:contentItem:5F8P-SD11-JJ6S-642T-00000-00&context=1537339


Page 6 of 9 
Kappler v. Beaudoin 

[4] Equity and the Law of Trust, P.H. Petit Butterworths 1989, p. 123: "In addition to 
rebutting the presumption of resulting trust by evidence as to the true intention, the 
existence of certain special relationships between the person who provides the 
purchase money or who transfers the property and the person into whose name the 
property is conveyed or transferred, either alone or jointly, gives rise to a presumption 
of advancement, which displaces the presumption of resulting trust." 

18 At paragraph 27, Madam Justice Robertson continues as follows: 
No evidence contradicted the intention, to make a gift. The relevant time to consider the 
terms and conditions of the gift to children is what happened at the time of the making of 
the gift 

19 Counsel for the defendant advances the proposition that the advance of monies by the 
plaintiffs to the defendant should be treated in the same fashion as an advance made by parents 
to a child, stating that the plaintiffs were in loco parentis to the defendant. The counsel for the 
defendant quotes the decision of Kirpalani v. Hathiramani, [1992] O.J. No. 1594, given by the 
Honourable Mr. Justice McMurtry. At page 14 of the decision, he states: 

(iii) Presumption of advancement in the context of in loco parentis' 

The defendant properly submits that the onus of proof on a transferee to establish that 
the transfer of property does not create a resulting trust can be shifted, if the evidence 
establishes that the transferee stood in loco parentis' to the transferor. It is submitted on 
behalf of the defendant that he did stand in loco parentis' to Mr. Ram at the time of the 
conveyance of the property. 

Mr. Justice McMurtry goes on to discuss what happens where property is purchased in the 
name of another or transferred to another without consideration and states: 

"A resulting trust will be presumed in favour of the person who has paid the purchase 
price. The presumption is overcome where the property vests in the name of a person 
towards whom the purchaser stood in loco parentis'. In that event the presumption is 
reversed and there is a rebuttable presumption that the purchaser intended to confer 
benefit or an advancement." 

20 The Ontario Court of Justice (General Division) had to consider this problem in the case of 
Reain v. Reain (1995), 20 R.F.L. (4th) 30, at p. 43. In that decision, the Honourable Mr. Justice 
Sills had this to say about the doctrine of resulting trusts at paragraphs 16 and 17: 

The doctrine of resulting trusts based as it is on the unexpressed but presumed intention 
of the donor, will not arise where the relation existing between the donor and donee is 
such as to raise a presumption that a gift was intended. This presumption of 
advancement applies to most cases where the person to whom property is conveyed is 
the child of the donor. This presumption of advancement is rebuttable in a variety of 
circumstances such as those discussed by the learned authors of Snell's Principles of 
Equity at pp. 178 and 179. At p. 178, the authors state, 

Both the presumption of a resulting trust and the presumption of advancement can be 
rebutted by evidence of the actual intention of the purchaser ... The clearest evidence 
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is an express declaration of trust on the face of the conveyance of the legal estate, but 
even where this is absent the Court puts itself in the position of a jury, and considers 
all the circumstances of the case, so as to arrive at the purchaser's real intention; it is 
only where there is no evidence to contradict it that the presumption of a resulting 
trust, or of advancement, as the case may be, will prevail. 

In dealing with determination of the question of debt versus gift in familial situations, the 
Ontario Court of Appeal in Reynolds v. Reynolds (1995), 13 R.F.L. (4th) 179 at 182, 
stated, 

Without an agreement there can be no debt. It would be a dangerous precedent to 
permit moral family obligations to creep into equalization calculations, no matter how 
deserving the recipient may be. 

The learned judge went on to say, "in the absence of agreement for repayment, there can be no 
debt". 

Decision 

21 While the $20,000 advance gives rise to a presumption of advancement in this case, I 
consider that such a presumption has been rebutted by evidence of a contrary intention. The 
presumption, as stated in the case of Reain v. Reain (supra), is not rebutted by a broad general 
expectation that the advance will be repaid in the absence of an agreement by all parties to that 
effect. In this case there was an agreement in writing for repayment, there were agreed terms of 
repayment, and the agreement was signed. 

22 I have no difficulty in rejecting the defence advanced by Marie France Beaudoin. 

23 It was normal for the plaintiffs to carry on paying the sum of $200 per month for the children 
from July 1, 1998 until the defendant left their home on September 15, 1998. Such payments 
were for the plaintiffs' grandchildren and this matter was, in their minds, a very separate matter 
from the $20,000 advance. I also accept their evidence, evidence that was not challenged, that 
they did not want to make a claim for repayment of the loan in August and September 1998, 
hoping that in the early months of the defendant's separation, their son, Robert, would reconcile 
with the defendant. I find this to be a very natural reaction on the part of the plaintiffs. 

24 I was not convinced by the defendant's statement that what distinguished her loan for the 
first car from the loan for the second car was that she did not make any payments on the second 
loan. This argument does not help the defendant because it is clear from the evidence that the 
defendant decided to separate from the plaintiffs' son, Robert Kappler, within two months of the 
advance of $20,000. It was also clear, from both plaintiffs, that they were not going to cause any 
further acrimony between the defendant and their son by insisting that the July 1st, August 1st, 
and September 1st, 1998 payments be made on time. It is important to note that the evidence 
revealed that while the defendant was making payments to the plaintiffs on the first car loan, she 
had delayed all payments during the winter months of 1996 until such time as the plaintiffs had 
returned from their winter months in Florida, without any objections from the plaintiffs. Thus 
there was a precedent set for deferring payments on a loan from the plaintiffs. Considering the 
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age of both plaintiffs and their sincere desire that their son's relationship to the defendant could 
be saved, it is understandable that no request for the loan payment was made by the plaintiffs. 

25 I accept the evidence of Susanne Kappler over the evidence of the defendant, Marie France 
Beaudoin, as it was given in a straightforward fashion and without hesitation. The promissory 
note, which the defendant originally left unsigned, was, as admitted by the defendant, signed at 
a later date and used by her. It is clear from the quote given earlier in this judgment and found in 
the case of Reain v. Reain (supra) that without an agreement, there can be no debt. In this case, 
whether the defendant wishes to acknowledge the agreement or not, she is faced with an 
agreement that bears her signature. The explanation for her signature on the promissory note 
cannot be accepted. To decide otherwise, would mean that the defendant could benefit from a 
fraud perpetuated upon the Regional Municipality of Ottawa-Carleton in order to obtain 100% 
subsidy for daycare costs. In the case of Jackson v. Jackson and Jackson (1960), 26 D.L.R. 
(2d) 686, it was made clear that the defendant cannot assert an illegal arrangement in order to 
rest her defence in this action and I quote the Honourable Mr. Justice Verchere at p. 687: 

Counsel for the plaintiff has contended that the defendants cannot successfully oppose 
this application because in so doing they must assert and establish an illegal purpose 
behind their acknowledgment, i.e., to deceive the Income Tax Department and avoid 
payment of gift tax. He relied on Scheuerman v. Scheuerman (1916), 28 D.L.R. 223, 
S.C.R. 625, and especially the remarks of the Chief Justice at p. 224 D.L.R., pp. 627-8 
S.C.R., namely: 

I am prepared to hold that a plaintiff is not entitled to come into Court and ask to be 
relieved of the consequences of his actions done with intent to violate the law, and 
that though they did not and even could not succeed in such purpose. 

I think the maxim quoted by Lord Eldon applies in this case and the Court should say, 
"Let the estate lie, where it falls". 

And those of Idington, J., at p. 629, namely: 

But from none of them can I extract authority for the proposition of law that when a 
man has, out of the sheer necessity to prove anything upon which he can hope to rest 
the alleged claim of trust, to tell of an illegal purpose as the very basis of his claim, 
that he may yet be entitled to succeed. 

26 Finally, I fail to understand how the defendant could interpret the fact that payments on the 
promissory note were flexible as meaning that the plaintiffs had made her a gift of $20,000. The 
fact that the defendant received gratuitous payments on behalf of the grandchildren, while the 
car loan was in default, is not an argument to characterize the loan as a gift. The plaintiffs were 
devoted and generous to their grandchildren, from their birth. On the contrary, the defendant 
should have known that the plaintiffs made a distinction between money contributed for the 
grandchildren and car loans. No promissory notes were produced for the monies advanced for 
the grandchildren. 

27 Finally, I find that the plaintiffs were extremely generous towards the defendant, Marie 
France Beaudoin, and in her evidence she acknowledges that fact. However, this does not place 
Susanne Kappler and Erich Kappler in the position of standing in the shoes of Marie France 
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Beaudoin's parents. I find it difficult to accept the defence argument that the plaintiffs stood in 
loco parentis to Marie France Beaudoin who at the relevant time was 27 years of age. 

28 Both Erich Kappler and Susanne Kappler convinced me that all loans to their own children 
had to be repaid. When defence counsel asked both plaintiffs if they knew how much money 
was advanced to their son, Robert, for his education, both answered by giving a figure without 
hesitation. Susanne Kappler testified that in the case of Robert Kappler, a ledger sheet had 
been opened and payments had commenced. 

29 I find the defendant was unjustly enriched by the advances made by the plaintiffs. The three 
elements of unjust enrichment have been met: 

(1) There was an enrichment of the recipient defendant, 

(2) There was a corresponding deprivation of the donor plaintiffs, and 

(3) There was no juristic reason for the enrichment as I have found the money proffered 
was not a gift but an advance. 

The presumption of advancement was not rebutted by the plaintiffs. 

30 There will be an order for the repayment by the defendant of the sum of $20,000 to the 
plaintiffs and interest will run at the rate of interest provided for in the Courts of Justice Act from 
the date of this judgment until payment. I may be addressed within 7 days of the receipt of this 
judgment by the parties on the matter of costs. Counsel are not to submit more than two 
typewritten pages of argument. I might add that if I should consider awarding costs in this 
matter, should I be requested to do so, I would not consider any higher scale than party/party 
costs. 

LALONDE J. 

End of Document 
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While judges should consider the capacity of the legislature to 
make the proposed change, it is an important feature of our dem-
ocratic tradition that legislatures avoid getting involved in the in-
tricacies of substantive common law. The common law has always 
evolved as new cases present new problems, and legislatures have 
tacitly accepted that changing the common law is a function the 
courts perform. As Professor Mel Eisenberg argues, legislatures can-
not satisfy the demand for "the enrichment of the supply of legal 
rules," and "in many areas the flexible form of a judicial rule is pref-
erable to the canonical form of a legislative rule."64 Legislatures tend 
to be preoccupied with more general issues of public policy, mat-
ters such as health, welfare, education, public safety, infrastructure, 
and budget. Law reform commissions with a mandate to study and 
make recommendations for change in specific areas of law can fill 
this void, but in most jurisdictions, the resources available to these 
bodies have been significantly curtailed. The practical reality is that 
legislatures rarely engage with the intricacies of the common law, so 
if the courts do not act, the law will remain static. 

Law-Making and the Judicial Hierarchy 

The place the judge occupies in the hierarchy of courts affects the 
judge's law-making authority. Lower courts are bound by the pro-
nouncements of higher courts, and there is a tendency when dis-
cussing judicial law-making to focus on appellate courts. I think this 
focus is misguided and underestimates the significant law-making 
powers of trial judges. 

The first reason for this is that trial judges control the facts, and 
the facts are what drive change in common law. Trial judges become 
immersed in the facts and the details of each case they hear. They see 
the parties and hear the witnesses over the days, weeks, and some-
times months it takes for the trial to unfold. Their close involvement 
with the facts and details of the case provides the perspective needed 
to decide what justice requires. Trial judges are required to apply the 
law as laid down by appellate courts, but their authority to find the 
facts to which the governing legal rules and principles apply carries 
with it significant law-making powers. If the trial judge finds that the 
facts of the case are novel and do not fall within the reach of estab-
lished precedent, the trial judge has the capacity to move the law in 
a different direction. The common law tradition depends upon this 
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highly fact-sensitive process. The facts and circumstances of every 
case are closely scrutinized at the trial level and, as circumstances 
change and society evolves, the demands of justice influence trial 
judges to shape the law, slowly but surely, this way or that.65

The trial judge's decision will be subject to review on appeal, and 
that certainly operates as a constraint on the trial judge's law-making 
power. On the other hand, trial judges enjoy a measure of freedom 
not available to appellate judges. Their liberty flows not only from 
the authority to find the facts but also from the reality that as a trial 
judge's pronouncements will not bind other judges,66 they can be less 
concerned about the broader consequences of their decisions. I cer-
tainly do not mean to suggest that trial judges should be cavalier or 
careless about their pronouncements. But they are at greater liberty 
than appellate judges to preoccupy themselves with the demands 
of justice in the particular case they are deciding. Appellate judges 
have additional concerns that arise from the binding nature of their 
decisions. All judges at the same level and below the appellate judge 
in the judicial hierarchy will be obligated to follow what the appel-
late judge has stated as the law. Appellate judges must strive to do 
justice in the particular case, but they have significantly more reason 
to worry about the consequences of the precedent they establish. 

There is another marked shift as one moves from an intermedi-
ate appellate court to the Supreme Court of Canada. Intermediate 
appellate judges are immersed in the nitty-gritty of deciding a large 
volume of cases on a wide range of subjects. They have virtually no 
control over their docket, as most litigants enjoy a right of appeal. 
As mentioned in chapter 2, most of the cases heard by intermediate 
appellate courts fall into the "error correction" category and involve 
no issues of precedential value. The mindset of an intermediate ap-
pellate judge is inevitably affected by the experience of deciding 
many cases, most of which do not involve jurisprudentially signifi-
cant issues. This encourages a cautious, minimalist, and incremental 
approach. 

Things are quite different at the Supreme Court of Canada. That 
court controls its own docket. The leave to appeal process allows the 
Supreme Court to pick and choose the cases it hears on the basis of 
their national importance. The Supreme Court can defer hearing an 
issue until it has been dealt with by more than one provincial court 
of appeal. This allows the issue to ripen on the basis of a variety 
of facts and a variety of trial and appellate decisions. The Supreme 
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Court hears very few "error correction" appeals. Its task is to de-
cide sixty-five to eighty important cases each year that raise issues 
of legal importance that transcend the immediate interests of the liti-
gants. Virtually every case the Supreme Court decides has preceden-
tial value. 

I suggest that a comparison of intermediate appellate judgments 
and the judgments of the Supreme Court of Canada reveals that 
the judge's approach to the challenge of judicial law-making is in-
fluenced by day-to-day routine. A judge who decides many cases, 
most of which are not precedent-setting, will think of judging dif-
ferently from the judge who, as one of nine, deals only with cases 
of national importance. Intermediate appellate judgments tend to 
be more focused on the facts of the case, and the legal pronounce-
ments the judges make tend to be more minimalist in nature, de-
ciding only what is necessary to deal with the case at bar. Reading 
Supreme Court judgments, one regularly encounters broad general 
statements of principle that extend beyond the confines of the actual 
dispute between the parties. The temptation to settle entire areas of 
the law is often present and sometimes irresistible, but there are per-
ils to be avoided. The more detached the pronouncement is from the 
facts of the case and the more the court deviates from established 
common law method, greater is the risk that the pronouncement will 
fail to anticipate facts or circumstances not before the court and will 
have unintended effects. 

Now of course intermediate appellate courts do decide many 
precedent-setting appeals, and they do have a significant law-mak-
ing role. We hear appeals raising issues of broad jurisprudential 
significance that require us to make pronouncements on important 
legal issues. Although we do not have the final word, many of our 
jurisprudentially significant decisions are not appealed, or leave to 
appeal is denied. In these cases, our role is not unlike that of the 
Supreme Court. 

The question, then, of whether and to what extent judges make 
law depends on a number of factors, not the least of which is the 
judge's place in the court hierarchy. As one moves up the hierarchy 
of trial, intermediate appeal and final appeal, one moves from the 
specific to the general. The trial courts are the pulse of the entire sys-
tem. As I have explained, trial courts are preoccupied with the facts 
and the justice of the specific case. Intermediate appeal courts have 
a more general perspective. The trial judge's case-specific findings 
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and perceptions of what justice demands are tested at the intermedi-
ate level of appeal for legal integrity and reliability. The task of the 
intermediate appellate court is to ensure that trial judgments are free 
from legal error and that the law and the legal process are respond-
ing appropriately to the disputes that arise. The apex court has gen-
eral oversight over the entire system. It is charged with settling the 
most contentious issues of law, and by limiting its attention to cases 
of that nature it is bound to have a significant law-making role. 

Conclusion 

Judicial law-making is a fundamental aspect of the common law tra-
dition. That does not mean that judges can make law as they please. 
Judges decide cases, and they must respect the role of the legislature 
as the primary source for legal change. They must also respect the 
limits imposed by their place in the judicial hierarchy. But judges 
also have a duty to maintain the integrity of the law. Their decisions 
should aim to enhance the law's clarity and its consistency with con-
temporary conditions and needs. The judicial maintenance function 
of "keeping the law in good shape" sometimes involves changing 
the law. If the judge is able to support such a change on the basis 
of a legally manageable and workable principle that emerges from 
the pattern of past decisions, legislative enactments, or Charter val-
ues, the judge is making law, not making up law. Changes that make 
the law a more complete and coherent whole fall within the judicial 
function. 
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weakens the force of precedent and significantly diminishes the ca-
pacity of appellate courts, including the Supreme Court of Canada, 
to have the final word on the constitutionality of legislation. 

I find the proposition that trial judges effectively have the last say 
on the constitutionality of legislation troubling and problematic. We 
could well have different trial judges in different provinces coming 
to opposite conclusions on the constitutionality of legislation based 
upon expert opinion evidence. It is quite conceivable that both find-
ings could be reasonable and effectively immune to appellate review. 
How would the Supreme Court deal with conflicting but reasonable 
findings by different trial judges in different provinces on the consti-
tutionality of the same legislation?89

ARE DECISIONS THE SUPREME COURT IS LIKELY TO OVERRULE 

BINDING ON LOWER COURTS? 

If the Supreme Court is increasingly prepared to depart from its own 
prior decisions, what does a trial judge or intermediate appellate 
court do when faced with a Supreme Court decision that it thinks the 
Supreme Court itself is likely to overrule? Do the lower courts have 
to obey the prior ruling of the Supreme Court and leave it to the liti-
gants to take the case higher, or is it permissible for the lower court 
to predict the outcome at the Supreme Court and rule accordingly? 

In 2011, the Federal Court of Appeal was confronted with a much 
criticized 1978 decision of the Supreme Court interpreting a provi-
sion of the Income Tax Act. Another panel of the Federal Court of 
Appeal had carefully considered the 1978 Supreme Court decision in 
2006, and, in light of the criticism the 1978 decision had attracted as 
well as the practical difficulties it had caused, the 2006 panel declined 
to follow it 90 The 2011 panel decided that it was bound to follow 
its own decision and not that of the Supreme Court. The Supreme 
Court of Canada held that the Federal Court was wrong, both in 
2006 and in 2011, not to follow the problematic 1978 Supreme Court 
decision.91 Writing for the Supreme Court, Rothstein J said that the 
Federal Court of Appeal should have followed the 1978 decision, 
providing reasons explaining why the 1978 decision was problem-
atic. It was for the Supreme Court to overrule itself, and that is what 
the court proceeded to do. 

However, as noted above, the decisions in Bedford, Carter, and Sas-
katchewan Federation of Labour indicate a very different approach in 
Charter cases. The Supreme Court appears to have opened the door 
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to permit trial judges to refuse to follow earlier Supreme Court Char-
ter decisions where there have been significant changes in fact or law. 
Not only is the Supreme Court prepared to overrule its own rulings, 
the court places such a high premium on "getting it right" in Char-
ter cases that it is prepared to allow, if not encourage, lower courts 
to depart from the court's earlier Charter pronouncements if either 
or both the factual and legal landscape have changed. The Supreme 
Court retains the last word, but even that has been attenuated by the 
holding in Bedford and Carter that findings on social and legislative 
facts are entitled to deference on appeal. 

Conclusion 

Precedent is a foundational principle of the common law. But the 
weight attached to precedent cannot be reduced to a set of mechani-
cal rules. It is the starting point to legal analysis. For most disputes, 
precedent will be decisive. But the capacity of the common law to 
evolve is inconsistent with rigid, unbending adherence to past deci-
sions. We must keep in mind that the ultimate purpose of precedent 
is to foster certainty, predictability, and coherence in the law. Blind 
adherence to stare decisis may not only perpetuate an unjust rule but 
may also conflict with the very purpose of the doctrine itself. 

The doctrine of precedent is a prime example of the kind of disci-
plined decision-making I discussed in chapter 6. It is easy to follow 
precedents with which we agree. The hard part of precedent kicks in 
when we disagree with the prior ruling or with the result it produces 
in the case at hand, but we know that we must allow the values of 
certainty and predictability to prevail. 

However, the doctrine of precedent is also a prime example of the 
principled approach to legal reasoning that I discussed in chapter 5. 
Those principles recognize that certainty and predictability exact the 
price of injustice when circumstances unforeseen by past decisions 
arise. This creates a tension between, on the one hand, the certainty 
and predictability we need to satisfy the rule of law and achieve sys-
temic justice, and, on the other hand, our perfectly proper concern 
over achieving justice in the individual cases we decide. And, in the 
words of Lord Denning, a great English judge notable for his im-
patience with what he regarded as the dead hand of the past, "The 
doctrine of precedent does not compel your Lordships to follow the 
wrong path until you fall over the edge of the cliff."92 
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As we edge towards that cliff, we have various tools at our dis-
posal. We may be able to distinguish the precedent, read it narrowly, 
or find exceptions or qualifications to restrict its reach. Over time, 
this may so undermine the precedent that it becomes unstable, and 
it is better, in the name of certainty and predictability — the very goals 
precedent is meant to serve — that it be jettisoned. Sometimes we re-
alize that the precedent was simply wrongly decided or that it was 
the product of another era when very .different conditions prevailed. 
But when we are tempted to jettison a precedent to avoid the injus-
tice side of the cliff, we must remain mindful to avoid falling off the 
other side into uncertainty and ad hoc decision-making. 

Neil Duxbury, an English legal scholar argues, "The common law 
requires not an unassailable but a strong rebuttable presumption 
that earlier decisions be followed."93 I suggest that the "strong re-
buttable presumption" approach to precedent accurately reflects the 
way intermediate appellate courts in Canada use precedent. When 
it comes to apex courts, some scholars argue that the presumption 
should shift. Decisions now thought to be wrong should be over-
ruled, "unless their retention can be justified in the circumstances by 
overriding stare decisis values."94 That shift in presumption has not 
been formally accepted by our Supreme Court, nor, so far as I am 
aware, by any other common law apex court. However, as the num-
ber of instances in which the Supreme Court reverses itself rises, it 
may be that the shift in presumption accurately reflects the direction 
that precedent has taken in the modern era. 
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assumption in this area seems again to be that it should not do so' s unless the 
agent's knowledge can be said to have been "bought", or he is an "agent to 
know",1296 as where a shipmaster is engaged who has prior knowledge of the 
ship. It may however be that too much significance has been attached to this limit 
on the acquisition of knowledge, which derives largely from the identification 
theory. In so far as the solicitor cases can be classed here, some certainly have 
involved the attribution of knowledge acquired outside the agency: for in land 
law there can be a positive duty to initiate inquiries not unlike that required of 
proposers for insurance.129' However, in this area the matter is in England and 
Wales now affected by statute.'" 

8-212 Duty to communicate. Hoffmann L.J. finally rejected an argument, for which 
there are many supporting dicta, that where an agent had a duty to communicate 
information, knowledge of it might be imputed to his principal."" He admitted 
that there were situations in which a weak presumption that information had been 
passed on might be applied, but no more, and treated the reasoning as primarily 
applicable to notification cases. It is submitted that this is correct, for the 
"passing on information" argument is in the last resort as weak as, or perhaps 
weaker than, the identification of principal and agent argument, and is rightly 
abandoned. And where the agent is subject to a fiduciary duty to another not to 
disclose information, knowledge cannot be imputed.t30O

8-213 Rule (4). Fraud of agent. Rule (4) refers to what is usually called the "fraud 
exception" and is often attributed to Re Hampshire Land Co.1301 It is clear, on the 
one hand, that the mere fact that the agent does not communicate his knowledge 
or information which he has, from fraudulent or other motives, is not sufficient 
to negative notice to the principal t302: at the other extreme it is clear also that 
where the third party had actual knowledge that the agent would not pass 
information on (e.g. because he is a party to the fraud together with the agent), 
the principal will not be treated as having notice.1303 It seems that the second is 
the only case where the agent's fraud will prevent a notification being 
effective.1304 Both Restatements also recognise the exception, though not without 

' 295 See the Permanent Trustee case, n. 1286 above, at [87]. 
1296 See cases cited above, n. 1285. 
1291 e.g. Rolland v. Hart (1871) L.R. 6 Ch.App. 678, Illustration 8. 
' 299 See below, para. 8-215. 
' 2" [1994] 2 All E.R. at 703-704; Watts, n. 1270 above. 
10D See Restatement. Third, § 5.03(b). 
13°1 [1896) 2 Ch. 743. See the case discussed by Watts (2001) 117 L.Q.R. 300 at 319-320. See 

further Watts, in Unjust Enrichment in Commercial Law (Degeling and Edelman eds, 2008), Chap. 
21 where Hampshire Land is argued to be correctly decided for the wrong reasons. The exception first 
manifested itself in Kennedy v. Green (1834) 3 My. & K. 699. 

112 Atterbuty v. Walls (1856) 25 L.J.Ch. 792; and see Illustrations: Bunbury v. Hibernian Bank 
[1908) I I.R. 261. See too Lebon v. Aqua Salt Co. Ltd [2009] UKPC 2; [2009) I B.C.L.C. 549 at 
[26). 

1307 Sharpe v. Foy (1868) L.R. 4 Ch.App. 35; Re Fitzroy Bessemer Steel Co. Ltd (1884) 50 L.T. 
144. 

13°4 See Comment to Article 94. 
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considerable difficulties of formulation.13O5 In knowledge cases, however, any 
presumption that information will be passed on is said to be nullified by proof 
that the agent was defrauding the principal in that transaction, whether or not the 
third party knew this. It can in such a case be said that there was a moral certainty 
that the information would not be communicated,1306 or that communication 
would require disclosure of the very fraud being practised upon the agent by the 
principal,1307 or that the agent was not acting for the principal when he received 
the information.1308 The mere suppression of a document is however not 
sufficient fraud.' 3°9 

"It must be made out that distinct fraud was intended in the very transaction, so as to 
make it necessary for the [agent] to conceal the fact from his [principal] in order to 
defraud him." ' 310

The exception has been found inapplicable where a company's sole shareholder 
and controller is responsible for, or aware of, the fraud.131

But the existence of any general fraud exception is open to question.1312 It can 
be said first that the deployment of the exception as a defence to property-based 
or restitutionary claims is not supported by the weight of authority,13'3 nor is it 
consistent in that context with the principles of vicarious liability.t314 Secondly, 

13*5 Restatement, Third, § 5.04: "Nevertheless, notice is imputed (a) when necessary to protect the 
rights of a third party who dealt with the principal in good faith; or (b) when the principal has ratified 
or knowingly retained a benefit from the agent's action"; Restatement. Second, § 282. Both of these 
go beyond fraud to cases where the agent simply acts adversely to the principal. 

13°6 Thompson v. Cartwright (1863) 33 Beay. 178 at 185 (affd (1863) 2 De G.J. & S. 10). 
1307 Waldy v. Gray (1875) L.R. 20 Eq. 238 at 251-252; Kennedy v. Green (1834) 3 My. & K. 699; 

Re European Bank (1870) L.R. 5 Ch.App. 358; Re Hampshire Land Co. [1891] 2 Ch. 743; Houghton 
& Co. v. Nothard, Lowe & Wills [1928] A.C. 1; Kwei Tek Chao v. British Traders & Shippers Ltd 
[1954] 2 Q.B. 459; StoneLeigh Finance Ltd v. Phillips (1965] 2 Q.B. 537; United Dominions Trust 
(Ireland) Ltd v. Shannon Caravans Ltd [1976] I.R. 225; Belmont Finance Corp. v. Williams Furniture 
Ltd [1979] Ch. 250; Wall v. New Ireland Assurance Co. Ltd [1965] I.R. 385; Cricklewood Holdings 
Ltd v. C.V. Quigley & Sons Nominees Ltd [1992] 1 N.Z.L.R. 463; Group Josi Re v. Walbrook 
Insurance Co. Ltd (1996) 1 Lloyd's Rep. 345; P.C.W. Syndicates v. P.C.W. Reinsurers, n. 1287 above, 
241; Arab Bank Plc v. Zurich Insurance Co. [1999] 1 Lloyd's Rep. 262. But cf. Moore Stephens v. 
Stone & Rolls Ltd [2008] EWCA Civ 644; [2009] 1 A.C. 1391; [2008] 2 Lloyd's Rep. 319; [2008] 
2 B.C.L.C. 461 at [72], doubting Arab Bank Plc v. Zurich on this point (upheld [2009] 1 A.C. 
1391). 

1308 Espin v. Pemberton (1859) 3 De G. & J. 547 at 555; Cave v. Cave (1880) 15 Ch.D. 639 at 644; 
Beach Petroleum NL v. Johnson (1993) 115 A.L.R. 411 at [22.34] (directors' acts "totally in fraud 
of the company"). 

1304 Atterbury v. Wallis (1856) 25 L.J.Ch. 792. 
131° Rolland v. Hart (1871) L.R. 6 Ch.App. 678 at 682-683, per Lord Hatherley L.C. 
13" Stone & Rolls Ltd v. Moore Stephens Ltd [2009] UKHL 39; [2009] 1 A.C. 1391 (noted by Watts 

(2010) 126 L.Q.R. 14; Halpern (2010) 73 M.L.R. 487). 
1712 see (2001) 117 L.Q.R. 300. 
13"  This point is developed by an examination of all the main cases. See too Nathan v. Dollars & 

Sense Ltd [2008] 2 N.Z.L.R. 557 (noted by Watts (2008) 124 L.Q.R. 529); and Permanent Trustee Co. 
Ltd v. O'Donnell [2009] NSWSC 902 at [369]. 

See Doe d. Willis v. Martin (1790) 4 T.R. 39 ("without imputing any fraud to Martin, and 
indeed it is negatived by the verdict, the maxim, that the principal is civilly responsible for the acts 
of his agent, universally prevails both in Courts of Law and Equity"); Lloyd v. Grace, Smith & Co. 
[1912] A.C. 716. 
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it is not surprising that the use of such an exception has been deployed to protect 
claimants against a defendant's arguments (for example, when sued for knowing 
assistance to the fraud of the claimant's agent) that the claimant is deemed to 
know of the fraud of its own agents,115 and on that account can be assumed to 
have condoned the wrong (by estoppel or ratification). Such arguments by 
defendants, though hazarded from time to time, are plainly without merit. 
However, in such situations imputation has no reason to operate. The rules of 
imputation do not exist in a state of nature, such that some reason has to be found 
to disapply them. Whether knowledge is imputed in law turns on the question to 
be addressed. Hence, a fraud exception is superfluous in these situations. Indeed, 
the irrelevance of imputation to cases where a principal is pursuing an agent, and 
implicated third parties, as a result of breach of duty by the agent to the principal 
is not confined to fraudulent breaches of duty. Were the principal deemed to 
possess the agent's knowledge of his own breaches of duty, and thereby to have 
condoned them, the principal could never successfully vindicate his rights.116

Further confusion has been created in this area by the repeated failure to 
differentiate cases concerned with the scope of contractual obligations, inter 
partes, from cases in a delictual or restitutionary context. It may well be 
appropriate in particular contractual contexts not to impute to a party the 
knowledge (or conduct) of a fraudulent agent,'3" and indeed in some cases it 
may be inappropriate to impute knowledge even where the agent's conduct is not 
fraudulent, or if fraudulent the conduct does not involve a fraud being practised 
on the principal.1318 Such cases are always context specific, and are strictly of no 
application outside the contractual context.1319

8-214 Agents of companies. These lines of reasoning may obviously cause special 
difficulty in the case of agents of companies,132O for there may be situations 
where the information required by one agent is available elsewhere in the 
company; it may perhaps also have been acquired at an earlier time. In some such 
cases it may, because of a time gap or a gap between departments (for example, 
as to renewals of insurance and new proposals), not be appropriate to attribute the 

13 's As in Houghton v. Nothard, Lowe & Wills [1928] A.C. 1; and Belmont Finance Corp. v 
Williams Furniture Ltd [1979] Ch. 250; Nationwide Building Society v. Dunlop Haywards Ltd [2007] 
EWHC 1374 (Comm) at [75]; Moore Stephens v. Stone & Rolls Ltd [2008] EWCA Civ 644; [2009] 
1 A.C. 1391; [2008] 2 Lloyd's Rep. 319; [2008] 2 B.C.L.C. 461 at [71]472] (affd [2009] UKHL 39; 
[2009] I A.C. 1391); Soods Solicitors v. Dormer [2010] EWHC 502 (QB). 

1316 See Stone & Rolls Ltd v. Moore Stephens Ltd [2009] UKHL 39; [2009] 3 W.L.R. 455 at [198]: 
and Watts (2001) 117 L.Q.R. 300 at 316-318. 

13" Cases of this sort include P.C.W. Syndicates v. P.C.W. Reinsurers [1996] I Lloyd's Rep. 241: 
Group Josi Re v. Walbrook Insurance Co. Ltd [1996] 1 Lloyd's Rep. 345. 

1318 See, e.g. Arab Bank Plc v. Zurich Insurance Co. [1999] I Lloyd's Rep. 262. But cf. Moore 
Stephens v. Stone & Rolls Ltd [2008] EWCA Civ 644; [2008] 3 W.L.R. 1146; [2008] 2 Lloyd's Rep. 
319; [2008] 2 B.C.L.C. 461 at [72] (affd [2009] UKHL 39; [2009] 1 A.C. 1391). See too S.A. 
d'Intermediaries Luxembourgeois v. Farex Gie [1995] L.R.L.R. 116, and the explanation of the case 
in (2001) 117 L.Q.R. 300 at 329. 

in° For recognition of this, see In re Bank of Credit and Commerce International S.A. (No. 15); 
Morris v. Bank of India [2005] EWCA Civ 693; [2005] 2 B.C.L.C. 328 at [124]. 

1120 For application of the basic rules to companies see Illustrations 9, 12, 13, 14. 
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38 BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY LAW 

• a federal exemption that shelters registered retirement savings plans 
(RRSPs) from the claims of creditors; 

• reformulated provisions governing preferences and transactions at 
undervalue that allow a trustee to impugn pre-bankruptcy trans-
actions; 

• changes to the rules that govern discharge of a bankrupt; and 
• a new set of cross-border insolvency provisions based on the UNCI-

TRAL Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency. 

This incremental approach to the reform of bankruptcy law has its 
drawbacks. Although some aspects of the bankruptcy statute are mod-
ernized, other features have become progressively obsolete and out-
dated. At some point a thorough revision of the entire statute will be 
required 47

B. THE OBJECTIVES OF BANKRUPTCY LAW 

The Supreme Court of Canada has stated that the purpose and object 
of bankruptcy law is to (1) distribute equitably the assets of the debtor 
and (2) permit the rehabilitation of the debtor as a citizen." This pro-
vides a very useful starting point for examining the objectives of bank-
ruptcy law. The first objective is to create a collective process through 
which the assets of the debtor are liquidated, the claims of the creditors 
are assessed, and the proceeds of the liquidated assets are distributed 
to the creditors. The second objective is to afford the debtor a fresh start 
when it is appropriate to do so. The entire history of bankruptcy law 
reform reveals a third objective: the prevention of fraud and abuse of 
the bankruptcy system, the promotion of commercial morality, and the 
protection of the credit system.' 

47 R Wood & D Bryan, "Creeping Statutory Obsolescence in Bankruptcy Law" 
(2014) 3 Journal of the Insolvency Institute of Canada 1. 

48 Industrial Acceptance Corp v Lalonde, [1952] 2 SCR 109; Vachon v Canada (Em-
ployment & Immigration Commission), [1985] 2 SCR 417. 

49 The three foundational objectives of bankruptcy law have been recognized for 
over two hundred years. Basil Montagu commented in 1805 that the "laws of 
bankruptcy are a system of laws constructed by statute for the benefit of trade 
(a), to secure an equal and speedy distribution of an insolvent or improvident 
trader's property amongst all his creditors (b), to discharge the unfortunate 
trader from his debts (c), and to suppress fraud." See B Montagu, A Digest of the 
Bankrupt Laws, vol 1 (London: Butterworth, 1805-7) at 1. 
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1) Liquidation and Distribution of the Debtor's Assets 

The insolvency of a debtor typically means that there will not be suf-
ficient assets to satisfy the claims of all the creditors. Bankruptcy is a 
legal process that seeks to maximize the recovery of the creditors as a 
group. In a world of no bankruptcy, some of the creditors — those who 
are able to grab assets before the other creditors are able to do so — are 
better off. But the creditors as a whole are worse off. There are two 
reasons why this is the case. First, in the absence of bankruptcy, each 
creditor must incur the cost of obtaining judgment and of enforcing it. 
This produces duplication in adjudication and enforcement costs that 
might be reduced if there was a collective liquidation proceeding car-
ried out on behalf of all the creditors. Second, under a regime where 
the ranking among creditors is determined by a principle of first come, 
first served, each creditor will have a strong incentive to rush in and 
grab the assets even though a more orderly liquidation of assets would 
produce a higher return for all the creditors as a group. Bankruptcy law 
protects the integrity of a collective liquidation proceeding by impos-
ing an automatic stay of proceedings that pre-empts the enforcement 
remedies of the creditors. In doing so, it provides "a way to override 
the creditors' pursuit of their own remedies and to make them work 
together."5° 

A collective liquidation proceeding requires a process for the assess-
ment of creditors' claims and the distribution of assets to creditors. 
Creditors do not invoke the usual civil process for the adjudication of 
their claims. Instead, an administrative rather than a judicial process is 
created under which a trustee in bankruptcy assesses and values their 
claims. This ensures that the claims can be processed more quickly 
and cheaply than would otherwise be the case. Bankruptcy law also 
provides rules for the ranking of the claims of creditors. Historically, 
bankruptcy law has adopted a pro rata sharing principle among credit-
ors. This has sometimes been said to form one of the foundational prin-
ciples of bankruptcy law. The pre-eminence of this principle, however, 
is undercut by the recognition of a number of exceptions under which 
certain creditors, such as preferred creditors, are given a higher rank-
ing. Rather than a fundamental principle, pro rata sharing might better 
be regarded as a sensible rule for ranking among claims of the same 

50 T Jackson, The Logic and Limits of Bankruptcy Law (Cambridge, MA: Harvard 
University Press, 1986) at 17. 
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type where there is no convincing reason for preferring one claim over 
another.51

2) Rehabilitation of the Individual Debtor 

The second objective of bankruptcy law looks to the economic rehabili-
tation of the debtor. This objective is not engaged if the debtor is an arti-
ficial entity, such as a corporation. Bankruptcy proceedings in respect 
of corporations and other artificial entities are mostly concerned with 
issues of liquidation and distribution. It is in respect of individuals 
that the second objective of bankruptcy law comes into play. Indeed, in 
many cases of consumer bankruptcy, the debtor owns very few assets. 
In these "no asset" cases, debtor rehabilitation is the primary objective 
that is being pursued. 

The rehabilitation of the debtor is accomplished through a num-
ber of means, the most important of which is the ability of a debtor to 
obtain a bankruptcy discharge. Because of illness, loss of employment, 
or other cause, a debtor may be left in a position where there is no rea-
sonable prospect of repayment of all debts. The bankruptcy discharge 
gives the honest but unfortunate debtor the ability to be freed from 
the crushing burden of debt that cannot be met. This gives the debtor 
a fresh start that will permit his or her reintegration into society. Dis-
charge releases the debtor from the claims of creditors that were in 
existence at the time of the bankruptcy. The creditors may resort to 
the debtor's assets, including after-acquired assets, up until the date of 
the discharge. Assets acquired after that date are not available to the 
creditors. 

The bankruptcy discharge is not the only means through which 
bankruptcy law seeks to foster the economic rehabilitation of the debt-
or. Bankruptcy law also pursues this objective by ensuring that the 
debtor is not stripped of all assets during the course of the bankruptcy 
but is permitted to retain sufficient assets to provide the debtor and his 
or her family with food, accommodation, and other necessaries of life. 
Bankruptcy law does so through its treatment of exempt property and 
through the surplus income regime that covers the post-bankruptcy, 
pre-discharge earnings of the debtor. Bankruptcy law also pursues the 
objective of debtor rehabilitation through mandatory credit counsel-
ling that attempts to reduce the occurrence of repeat bankruptcies. 

51 See R Mokal, "Priority as Pathology: The Pari Passu Myth" (2001) 60 Cambridge 
Law Journal 581. 
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3) Enhancing Commercial Morality and Protecting the 
Credit System 

The third objective of bankruptcy law is premised on the idea that 
bankruptcy is not simply a private matter between creditors and debt-
ors but a subject where there are legitimate matters of public inter-
est at stake.S2 Bankruptcy law seeks to protect commercial morality by 
preventing fraudulent debtors from abusing the credit system. Equally, 
creditors and trustees in bankruptcy are prevented from engaging in 
practices that abuse the bankruptcy system or undermine public trust 
in the credit economy. The Supreme Court of Canada, in an early deci-
sion, stated although one of the objects of bankruptcy law is to secure 
a speedy and equitable distribution of the bankrupt's assets, it is not 
confined to this purpose and also has as its goals the prevention of 
fraud and bad faith.S3 It therefore "acts as a preventative to fraud and 
collusion on the one hand, and as an encouragement to honest and cau-
tious trading on the other."54

Bankruptcy law imposes a set of bankruptcy offences that can be 
used to discipline persons who transgress the norms of commercial 
morality. It also provides for a system for the licensing of trustees to 
force out those who are fraudulent or incompetent. Additionally, bank-
ruptcy law possesses an investigatory apparatus that permits public 
officials to investigate complaints, and it recognizes the importance of 
an information-gathering function concerning the causes of insolven-
cies and the operation of the various insolvency regimes. The ability to 
compile insolvency statistics is now regarded as a crucial element in 
effective bankruptcy law reform. 

The integrity of the bankruptcy process can be seriously weakened 
if the debtor's assets are dissipated before the bankruptcy is invoked. 
This can occur if a debtor transfers assets to a third party and does 
not receive their fair value in exchange. Such payments and transfers 
have the effect of undermining the ranking of claims established by 
the insolvency regime. This is the problem of the fraudulent preference, 
which is not unique to bankruptcy law and is liable to arise when-
ever creditors seek recovery from the debtor's assets. Bankruptcy law 
provides rules that allow the creditors to recover value that has been 
transferred to third parties to address this problem. In essence, these 

52 See Tasse Report, above note 35 at 87-88; Cork Report, above note 18 at 62-63. 
See also Re Posner (1960), 3 CBR (NS) 49 (Man QB). 

53 Shields v Peak (1883), 8 SCR 579. 
54 Ibid at 588, Ritchie CJ. 
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